FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
10/17/2024
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
10/16/2024 4:37 PM

Supreme Court No. ____ COA NO. 84278-1-I Case #: 1035501

THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

THE STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

KAVEY POLLARD,

Petitioner.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY

PETITION FOR REVIEW

MOSES OKEYO Attorney for Petitioner

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 610 Seattle, WA 98101 (206) 587-2711

B. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The trial court improperly dismissed a person of color from the panel for expressing distrust of our judicial system and for expressing that he knew his susceptibility for groupthink could affect his ability to be fair and impartial. The excusal violated Mr.

Pollard's right to a fair jury trial, guaranteed by article I, sections 21 and 22 and the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments. Though the State did not present proof that Juror 71 was actually biased, the Court of Appeals held the trial court did not abuse its discretion for dismissing this juror for cause. The Court of Appeals'

opinion conflicts with this Court's decision in *State v*. *Smith*, ___Wn.3d___, 555 P.3d 850, 858 (2024). A juror who says they may go along with other jurors has not demonstrated a probability of bias because of his equivocal statements alone. The Court should review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and reverse.

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The facts leading to Mr. Pollard's arrest have been explained in the opening brief and are not germane to this petition. The State charged Mr. Pollard with possession of a stolen firearm and three counts of unlawful possession of a firearm in the second degree. CP 22-23.

1. During voir dire, the trial court excused Juror 71 for cause over the defense objections.

During jury selection, the State used a for cause challenge to exclude Juror 71; a Brown person who

RP 307, 309-10. In his questionnaire, Juror 71 indicated he was concerned he might not be fair and impartial. RP 274. When the prosecutor questioned him, Juror 71 explained: "Specifically, I have seen people in positions of authority and power abuse that power," and it left him feeling vulnerable and alone.

Id. at 275. Juror 71 clarified that he holds law enforcement in the "highest regard" because they "risk their life to keep us safe." Id. But he was at a stage in life where he is a "little bit disappointed with people in power." Id.

The prosecution asked Juror 71, given his "negative experience" and his distrust of authority figures, whether he could set those feelings aside to consider police testimony and impartially follow the court's instructions. *Id.* at 275. Juror 71 answered:

"I'm not sure." However, Juror 71 showed he could be trusted to follow the court's instructions by pointing out: "ironically, I did follow the instructions which said, if you feel it's a 'may be' then you should err on the side of caution and answer 'yes." *Id.* at 275-76.

Juror 71 did not want to be misconstrued: "I want to make it clear it's not about trusting the law enforcement officers, it's about trusting the people behind them that are making those laws and rules."

Id. at 276. He said he was aware his "pessimistic view" of authority figures could affect his judgment. Id. at 276.

Concerning his role as a juror, he said "obviously" when looking at the evidence he would weigh "if there is enough there." RP 276.

The prosecution moved to dismiss Juror 71 for cause. *Id.* Mr. Pollard asked Juror 71 whether he was

saying he was unable to follow the judge's instructions. Id. at 277. Juror 71 reiterated he held police in the "highest regard" and clarified that his comments were not about distrusting law enforcement. Id. In his personal and professional life, he came across people in positions of power and authority who claimed to be fair but were not. Id. He was consciously examining whether those experiences would compromise his ability to be fair and impartial. Id.

Mr. Pollard objected to removing Juror 71 for cause because he had not demonstrated any actual bias, had not stated he was unable to follow instructions, and had in fact demonstrated he follows instructions. *Id.* at 277.

The court further questioned Juror 71 outside the presence of the rest of the jury. *Id.* at 277-78. Juror 71 again said he could reasonably follow an objective

instruction like "Don't talk to anyone." *Id.* at 279. But he explained he was not sure he could follow a "qualitative" instruction like "Hey, don't be biased." *Id.* He explained there is no way of being "100 percent" sure one is not being biased. *Id.* Juror 71 put it simply: "That's the concern I have. Following instructions really depends on what the instruction is and how you can measure it." *Id.*

The trial court asked Juror 71:

Is there anything that you've seen or heard so far about the charges, about the lawyers, and about Mr. Pollard that makes you think that your personal situation is likely to be triggered in a way that will make it difficult for you to be fair and impartial?

Id. at 280.

He said: "Not at the moment." *Id*.

Outside the presence of other jurors the Court asked to know more about Juror 71's "personal and professional experience" that he so far circumspectly

described at voir dire. Id. at 306. Juror 71 explained he lost a custody battle for his daughter in a recent divorce and he saw bias infecting the entire proceeding at all levels. Id. at 307, 309-10. In his professional life, he observed people in positions of authority "talk loudly" about equity and fairness, but favoritism abounds and minorities get treated unfairly. Id. at 307. Juror 71 wanted the court to know he "immigrated" to this country 20 years ago because he believed it was a just society. Id. But the more he lived here, the more he felt disillusioned; he has no allies and has been repeatedly hammered by those in authority in his professional life, who have penalized him for having a minority viewpoint. *Id.* at 308-09. Juror 71 said he was examining and expressing his "self-awareness" from his experiences that he tended to

just go with the "majority" to get over the "finish line" so as not to be the only minority view. *Id.* at 309.

The court thanked Juror 71 for his astute observation and self-awareness, then asked whether he could stand up to the other jurors if he held a minority view:

THE COURT: Let me -- and -- and I appreciate your candor, and I think your astute observation about following Instructions, and some of the gray areas and complexities here. One of the things I thought I heard you say is that you have some concern really because of the trauma and impact you've experienced that, you know, at some point in time you might just go along to get along, and -- and agree with a verdict whether -- not -- not be willing to stand up and have the minority view, even if you're persuaded that it's different than the other jurors. Do I understand you correctly?

JUROR NUMBER 71: That is one of the scenarios I worry about. Not the only scenario, but yes.

Id. at 311-12.

The State renewed its motion to strike for cause and Mr. Pollard renewed his objection. *Id.* at 312. Mr. Pollard argued Juror 71 merely examined whether he held any sort of bias which could compromise his ability to follow the court's instructions and concluded he could fairly weigh the evidence. *Id.* at 313. Mr. Pollard explained that our courts ask jurors to work through their own bias and follow the court's instructions to determine where they land on the issues. Id. at 314. This is precisely what Juror 71 was doing. Id. Therefore, Mr. Pollard argued, Juror 71 would be a "wonderful" juror who should not be dismissed for cause, as he demonstrated on the record that he is able to follow instructions and weigh the evidence. Id. at 314.

The trial court dismissed Juror 71 for cause on the basis that, while he might possibly be a "wonderful

juror," something might happen at trial that would make him an inappropriate juror. *Id.* at 315.

2. The jury returned a guilty verdict.

Following trial, the jury convicted Mr. Pollard of Count I, possession of a stolen firearm, and Counts II and III, second degree unlawful possession of a firearm. 5/19/22 RP 747, However, the jury could not agree on the last count of second degree possession of a firearm. *Id.* at 746-47. The trial court dismissed the count on which the jury hung with prejudice. CP 71.

Mr. Pollard, among other issues on appeal, challenged the improper exclusion of Juror 71 for cause. Br. of Appellant at 31-33. The Court of Appeals affirmed, finding that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in holding that Juror 71 exhibited actual bias and was unfit to serve. Slip. •p at 11-12. Mr. Pollard seeks review of the Court of Appeals' opinion

because it misconstrues Juror 71 responses and because the Court of Appeals applied its reasoning in Smith. But the Supreme Court reversed *Smith*: It took the opposite view based on these same facts.

D. ARGUMENT

This Court should accept review because the Court of Appeals' opinion misconstrues the record and conflicts with this Court's opinion in *Smith*.

a. A court may not excuse a juror for cause unless a party proves actual bias.

In determining whether a juror has evidenced bias against a substantive right of a party so as to mandate excusing that juror, the trial court "must be satisfied, from all the circumstances, that the juror cannot disregard [their bias] and try the issue impartially." *State v. Booth*, 24 Wn. App. 2d 586, 596, 521 P.3d 196 (2022) (quoting RCW 4.44.190).

Washington State has long held that "equivocal statements" alone do not mean that the juror is actually biased. *State v. Noltie*, 116 Wn.2d 831, 838-39, 809 P.2d 190 (1991); *State v. Sassen Van Elsloo*, 191 Wn.2d 798, 808-09, 425 P.3d 807 (2018). The possibility of bias evidenced in equivocal statements does not demand removal; rather, removal is required only where the record evidences a probability of bias. While a party may challenge a biased juror for cause under RCW 4.44.190, a court may not grant the challenge unless the party establishes actual bias "by proof." *Noltie*, 116 Wn.2d at 838.

A judge may not strike jurors from a case based on their opinions unless they are unqualified to serve because they cannot disregard preexisting opinions and try the case impartially. *State v. Teninty*, 17 Wn. App.

2d 957, 962, 489 P.3d 679, rev. denied, 497 P.3d 385 (2021); RCW 4.44.170(2).

"Equivocal answers alone are not sufficient to establish actual bias warranting dismissal of a potential juror." Sassen Van Elsloo, 191 Wn.2d at 808-09 (citing Noltie, 116 Wn.2d at 839). Moreover, "a mere possibility of bias is not sufficient to prove actual bias." Id. at 809. If "a juror with preconceived ideas can set them aside" and try the case fairly, the challenging party has not proved actual bias sufficient to exclude the juror. Id. Moreover, a juror may not be dismissed based on a lawyer's or judge's racial bias. State v. Saintcalle, 178 Wn.2d 34, 41-42, 309 P.3d 326 (2013); GR 37.

A juror who initially expresses a certain bias may be rehabilitated by further inquiry showing they are capable of unbiased decision making regarding the case. State v. Gonzales, 111 Wn. App. 276, 281, 45 P.3d 205 (2002). If the juror affirmatively declares the ability to remain impartial, the juror does not exhibit the necessary actual bias rendering them unqualified under RCW 4.44.170(2). *Id*.

b. The trial court improperly struck Juror 71 for expressing distrust of the judicial system and for acknowledging that groupthink could affect his decision-making.

As a matter of law, negative experiences with the police and a distrust of police do not constitute actual bias sufficient to exclude a juror. GR 37(h). This logic applies in equal force to negative experiences with the legal system and questioning the fairness of our justice system. Indeed, such reasons for exclusion are presumptively invalid even for a peremptory challenge, because they have historically been "associated with improper discrimination in jury selection." *Id*.

As with peremptory challenges, "massive racial disparities also pervade the use of challenges for cause." Thomas Ward Frampton, For Cause: Rethinking Racial Exclusion And The American Jury, 118 Mich. L. Rev. 785, 785 (2020). One reason is that courts exclude for cause non-White jurors who have "negative views of law enforcement." Id. at 806. Because racial bias permeates our legal system including police stops, searches, and arrests—this basis for juror exclusion is doubly discriminatory. See Task Force 2.0, Race and Washington's Criminal Justice System: 2021 Report to the Washington Supreme Court¹.

This Court was aware of this problem when it adopted GR 37(h). At a symposium on jury diversity,

¹ Available at: https://digitalcommons.law.seattleu.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1116&context=korematsu_center.

the Court heard from a Black Washington citizen who had been excluded from a jury for expressing distrust and negative experiences with police as a woman of color.² The excluded juror described the negative experiences that led her to distrust police, and expressed her disappointment at being excluded from jury service for that reason. Id. She explained that while she had "preconceived notions" about the police and did not "trust the police," she was "an adult" and could of course "be fair." Id. By relating her experience to the Court, she hoped to help ensure that "the law of fair justice is actually fair for everyone." *Id*. The law is not fair for everyone if jurors are excluded based on their distrust of police, given the historical and current

² See https://tvw.org/video/washington-state-supreme-courtminority-justice-commission-symposium-2017051090/?eventID=2017051090, starting at approximately 2 hours and 10 minutes.

issues of racial discrimination and bias in policing. See GR 37.

Juror 71 expressed similar sentiments of general distrust of our judicial system. He recounted his negative experiences with the justice system and how bias infected all levels and denied him a fair trial. If jurors are excluded based on their distrust of our judicial process, given the historical and current issues of racial discrimination and bias in policing and systemic overrepresentation of Blacks in the legal system, the law cannot and will not be fair for everyone.

The presumption of innocence requires jurors to approach the prosecution's case with skepticism and give the accused the benefit of the doubt. See State v. Venegas, 155 Wn. App. 507, 524-25, 228 P.3d 813 (2010). This presumption is the "bedrock upon which

the criminal justice system stands." State v. Bennett, 161 Wn.2d 303, 315, 165 P.3d 1241 (2007). Being leery of police, or leery of the fairness of our justice system, does not render a person biased or unqualified to serve when the person affirmatively assures the court of her ability to listen to the witnesses and evaluate their testimony in court and weigh the evidence. This skepticism reflects the presumption of innocence that jurors must apply in all cases.

In *Smith*, the juror in question was unable to commit to applying the presumption of innocence.

State v. Smith, 27 Wn. App. 2d 838, 846, 534 P.3d 402 (2023). When asked whether, if she disagreed with everyone else in the jury, she would be tempted to "change [her] vote to whatever the rest of the group thinks, even if [she] personally didn't feel that way," answered she would not, and stated, "If I was a 100

percent very confident, then no. But if I was like, I believe this evidence, or whatever, but I am kind of like, on the fence, then I may agree with everyone." Id. (Emphasis added.) The Smith court noted that if a juror is on the fence, the State has necessarily failed to satisfy its burden to prove the elements beyond a reasonable doubt and simply "agree[ing] with everyone" when "on the fence," contradicted the unequivocal instructions on the law and deliberation process. Id.

But this Court reversed after holding that a juror who says they may go along with other jurors has not demonstrated a probability of bias.

Unlike *Smith*, in *Gonzales*, the juror stated, "I would have a very difficult time deciding against what the police officer says," and even if instructed to presume the defendant innocent, the juror testified "I

don't know if I could keep those separate. I don't think—I don't know if I could.' "111 Wn. App. 276, 278-79, 45 P.3d 205 (2002). There, the Court of Appeals held that the juror was actually biased and excusable for cause. *Id*.

Here, like *Smith* and unlike *Gonzales*, the juror's answers do not establish actual bias. The expression of hesitancy or reservations about aspects of jury service do not constitute evidence of actual bias requiring excusal. *See State v. Phillips*, 6 Wn. App.2d 651, 664-66, 431 P.3d 1056 (2018) (internal citation omitted) (distinguishing between a juror who says he cannot be fair and one who "expresses reservations"). Rather, reservations might show mere honesty, uncertainty, and self-awareness. There is no mandate that prospective jurors affirmatively express unequivocal

commitment to impartiality to be seated. *State v. Lawler*, 194 Wn. App. 275, 287, 374 P.3d 278 (2016).

Here, Juror 71 did not say he would be unable to put aside any predispositions and try the matter.

Instead, Juror 71 said he would set aside his preconceived ideas because "obviously" when looking at the evidence he would weigh "if there is enough there." 275-76; 313-14.

A juror's expression of general distrust of our system of justice, based on his negative experiences, does not alone demonstrate bias. On the contrary, a juror's affirmative expression of self-awareness of his tendency to allow the majority's groupthink to compromise his ability to be fair and impartial demonstrates the juror is not actually biased.

Mr. Pollard objected to removing Juror Number
71 for cause because nothing in the record

unequivocally demonstrated actual bias and the juror had in fact demonstrated he follows instructions. *Id.* at 277.

Mr. Pollard argued Juror 71 was examining himself to discover whether he harbored any bias that could prevent him from following the court's instructions. Id. His awareness of his own bias made him a good juror and he demonstrated he would follow the court's instruction and carefully weigh the evidence. Id. at 313. The trial court asked the potential jurors to consider their own biases, and provide assurances they can follow the court's instructions and fairly determine the case. *Id.* at 314. Juror 71 did just that. Juror 71 would have been a "wonderful" juror, and he should not have been dismissed for cause, as he demonstrated on the record

he is able to follow instructions and weigh the evidence. *Id.* at 314.

The court improperly excused Juror 71 for cause over defense objection. 5/11/22 RP 312-15. Juror 71 he said he would set aside his preconceived ideas because "obviously" when looking at the evidence he would weigh "if there is enough there." RP 275-76; 313-14.

In short, the State showed nothing beyond the mere possibility of prejudice on the part of Juror 71. State v. Birch, 151 Wn. App. 504, 513, 213 P.3d 63 (2009).

The State argued that it was not dismissing Juror 71 for any other reason such as his ethnicity or minority views but because he was not sure he could be fair and impartial.

But here, the real reason the prosecutor struck

Juror 71 is probably because of his perspective as a

person of color. Juror 71 made the prosecution uncomfortable because he said he experienced discrimination and impermissible bias at all levels of his divorce and custody proceedings. But Brown and Black jurors may not be excluded based on an assumption that they will be unable to impartially consider the State's case against a Black defendant.

Batson v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 79, 89, 106 S.Ct. 1712, 90 L.Ed.2d 69 (1986). Juror 71 was excluded for impermissible reasons.

It appears the real reason Juror 71, a minority was struck for expressing skepticism of the criminal justice system. *See State v. Listoe*, 15 Wn. App. 2d 308, 322, 475 P.3d 534 (2020) (the challenged juror had expressed some skepticism of the criminal justice system, which "echo justifications for exclusion from a

jury that have historically been associated with discrimination").

c. The Court of Appeals ignored this Court's opinions holding that equivocal statements alone do not prove actual bias.

The Court of Appeals affirmed and held that

Juror 71 was actually biased because he never
expressed "unconditional confidence" in his ability to
deliberate fairly and follow the trial court's
instructions. Slip. •p. at 13. This Court rejected this
same reasoning in *Smith*, 555 P.3d at 858, an opinion
in which it reversed the Court of Appeals—it took the
opposite view based on these same facts.

First, importantly, the Court of Appeals applies *State v. Smith*, 27 Wn. App. 2d 838, 847, 850, 534 P.3d 402 (2023) to the facts of Mr. Pollard's case. Slip. •p. at 12-13. The Court of Appeals correctly holds that the facts of this case are analogous to *Smith*, 27 Wn. App.

2d at 847, 850; *Id*. But this Court reversed the Court of Appeals' opinion in *Smith*.

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