FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 1/28/2025 12:13 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

NO. 103550-1

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

#### STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

KAVEY POLLARD,

Petitioner.

#### STATE'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

LEESA MANION (she/her) King County Prosecuting Attorney

AMY R. MECKLING Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent

King County Prosecuting Attorney W554 King County Courthouse 516 3rd Avenue Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 477-9497

###

# **Rules and Regulations**

# Washington State:

GR 37	
RAP 13.4	

#### A. <u>SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT AGAINST REVIEW</u>

The Court of Appeals properly affirmed the trial court's exercise of discretion to dismiss a potential juror for cause. The potential juror expressed a conscious bias against people in positions of authority, "the people that make the laws and rules," and the court system. The juror conditioned his ability to set aside those biases and follow the court's instructions on the chance that nothing would arise in the case that would relate to those biases.

The totality of the record in this case showed that the excused potential juror had experienced "multiple situations" in his professional life that caused him to believe that people "in charge" and people who "make the laws and rules," were unfair, and he said he "suffered" an emotionally pessimistic view of authority figures every day, which he could not ignore. That was combined with a contentious divorce and childcustody fight in which he "experienced bias at every level" that could impact his ability to perform his duties as a juror and "follow all the instructions" to a degree he could not quantify.

As the trial court decided, this juror exhibited a *probability* of bias, not a mere *possibility*, especially in a case in which the defense would center on police overreach and abuse. The Court of Appeals properly affirmed. Review by this Court is unwarranted.

#### B. STANDARD FOR ACCEPTANCE OF REVIEW

"A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only: (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals; or (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court." RAP 13.4(b). Pollard cites to RAP 13.4(b)(1) and argues that the decision below conflicts with this Court's recent opinion in *State v. Smith*, 3 Wn.3d 718, 555 P.3d 850 (2024) (*Smith II*). To the contrary, the Court of Appeals' opinion in this case is faithful to this Court's steadfast deference in *Smith II* to the discretion of the trial court in deciding whether to dismiss potential jurors for cause. Review should be denied.

#### C. <u>ISSUE PRESENTED</u>

Has Pollard failed to demonstrate that review is warranted when the Court of Appeals followed the correct legal analysis to conclude that the trial court properly exercised its broad discretion to excuse for cause a juror who demonstrated a probability of actual bias?

#### D. <u>STATEMENT OF THE CASE</u>

The State prepared a comprehensive recitation of the facts of the case in the Brief of Respondent below. Brf. of Resp. at 2-20. The Court of Appeals likewise described the

facts in detail. State v. Pollard, No. 84278-1-I, Slip op. at 1-9

(Div. I, Sept. 23, 2024).

#### E. <u>THIS COURT SHOULD DENY THE PETITION FOR</u> <u>REVIEW</u>

- 1. REVIEW IS INAPPROPRIATE WHERE THE COURT OF APPEALS' OPINION ADHERES TO ESTABLISHED CASE LAW AFFIRMING THE BROAD DISCRETION OF THE TRIAL COURT TO EXCUSE JURORS FOR CAUSE.
  - a. Relevant Facts.

The trial court conducted jury selection remotely with Pollard's agreement. RP 90. Based on answers to a questionnaire, the court excused some of the potential jurors for hardship, and some for cause. RP 90-113. The court scheduled the remaining jurors in "panels" of numerical order, with the first panel to be questioned in the morning, the second panel that afternoon, and a third panel, if needed, the following day. RP 115-16, 212.

On his questionnaire, Juror 71, who was in the second panel, said that he had concerns about his ability to be fair and impartial. RP 214, 274. In open court, he said that he was "going through some challenging times" that were a culmination of experiences in both his personal and professional life. *Id.* He said that he could not "ignore those experiences," which he described as "people in positions of authority and power abuse that power." RP 275.

The prosecutor asked Juror 71 if he would be able to set those thoughts aside, listen impartially to the testimony of law enforcement, and then follow the judge's instructions, given that those officers and the judge were authority figures. RP 275. Juror 71 said, "I'm not sure," and "it is a maybe for me." RP 275-76. He clarified that "it's not about trusting the law enforcement officers, it's about trusting the people behind them that are making those laws and rules." RP 276. Juror 71 characterized himself as having a "conscious bias" against authority figures. *Id*.

His recent personal and professional experiences had led Juror 71 to conclude that "there are people in positions of power and authority who claim to be fair and are not." RP 277. He was not sure if the problem was "the rules or regulations or the laws" (as opposed to individuals), but he had recently "suffered" through the "emotion" of feeling that way "every day." *Id.* Juror 71 felt that if something were to come up in the trial that related to those experiences, it could impair his judgment and prevent him from focusing on the evidence and the law. RP 277, 279.

When asked if he had heard anything thus far that would make it difficult for him to be impartial, Juror 71 said, "Not at this moment. But I'll be honest with you, even sitting here right now and ... expressing my feelings in front of two lawyers and a judge is making me very uncomfortable." RP 280. He admitted that he was still unsure whether he could be fair and impartial. *Id*.

Later, outside the presence of the rest of the panel, the trial court asked Juror 71 to share more about the experiences that he believed might impair his ability to serve impartially. RP 306-07. Juror 71 made clear that there was "not a single isolated situation," but rather "multiple situations" in his professional life where those in power display favoritism and treat "small sets of people unfairly."<sup>1</sup> RP 307. He was clear that he had experienced a "repeated hammering in [his] professional life where [he saw] people in authority just going [scot] free." RP 308.

Juror 71 felt that when he needed an ally, "people took the path of least resistance," and so he started feeling, "maybe that's the way to go." RP 308. When he heard of this case, his first impression was not to care whether the right decision was made, but "whatever gets this case sorted out quickly." *Id.* Even though he knew that was legally inappropriate, he was

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Citing to RP 307, Pollard claims that Juror 71 said that he observed people in his professional life exhibit favoritism and *"minorities"* get treated unfairly. Pet. for Rev. at 7. Juror 71 actually said that he observed that a "small set of people" were treated unfairly. RP 307. Later, Juror 71 clarified that he had been penalized at work for having the "minority *viewpoint*." RP 309.

concerned he might not be willing to stand up to the other jurors if he had a minority opinion about Pollard's case because he had been "set up for failure" and "penalized" at work for not going along with the majority view. RP 308-09, 312. He might disagree with everybody else but change his mind, just to "get it over the finish line." RP 309.

Juror 71 also revealed that he had lost custody of his daughter in a divorce proceeding. RP 307, 309-10. He believed that there was "bias at every level" during the custody case over his daughter. RP 310.

In his own words, Juror 71 said that these experiences in both his professional and personal life had caused him to suffer "pessimism," "bias," and "confirmation bias." RP 309. He was clear that his ability to follow the court's instructions would "depend on the instruction." RP 311. He was clear that his ability to be impartial would be conditioned on whether something in the case related to his personal experiences. RP 277, 308-10. He could not "quantify" for the trial court the impact of his bias on his ability to be impartial. *Id*.

The State challenged Juror 71 for cause, stating that "at the end of the day … he just doesn't know if he can be fair and impartial, and it depends on how the facts of the case turn out." RP 313. The trial court excused Juror 71, stating its concerns about Juror 71's ability to follow the court's instructions and to also weigh the evidence fairly and impartially, the trial court excused Juror 71. RP 314. The court noted that the juror had "stated repeatedly" that he feared something in the trial could come up that, based on his experiences and stated bias, would prevent him from being fair and impartial. *Id*. The court concluded that "he was clear enough about that concern that I do find there is cause to excuse him." RP 315.

#### b. Relevant Legal Standard.

The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution and article I, section 22 of the Washington Constitution, guarantee the right to trial by an impartial jury. *State v. Brett*, 126 Wn.2d 136, 157, 892 P.2d 29 (1995).

RCW 2.36.110 outlines the duty of a trial judge to excuse any juror, "who in the opinion of the judge, has manifested unfitness as a juror by reason of bias, prejudice, indifference, inattention or any physical or mental defect or by reason of conduct or practices incompatible with proper and efficient jury service."

Jurors with actual bias should be excused. *State v. Slert*, 186 Wn.2d 869, 877, 383 P.3d 466 (2016). "Actual bias" is defined by statute as "the existence of a state of mind on the part of the juror in reference to the action, or to either party, which satisfies the court that the challenged person cannot try the issue impartially and without prejudice to the substantial rights of the party challenging." RCW 4.44.170(2).

When a party challenges a juror for cause based on actual bias, the trial judge asks whether the prospective juror's state of mind is such that he or she can try the case fairly and impartially. Otis v. Stevenson-Carson School Dist. No. 303, 61
Wn. App. 747, 752-53, 812 P.2d 133 (1991). The judge must decide if the juror's views would "prevent or substantially impair the performance of his duties as a juror in accordance with his instructions and his oath." *State v. Hughes*, 106 Wn.2d 176, 181, 721 P.2d 902 (1986) (quoting *Wainwright v. Witt*, 469
U.S. 412, 424, 105 S. Ct. 844, 852, 83 L. Ed. 2d 841 (1985)). To excuse a juror for actual bias, "the court must be satisfied, *from all the circumstances*, that the juror cannot disregard such opinion and try the issue impartially." *State v. Griepsma*, 17
Wn. App. 2d 606, 612, 490 P.3d 239 (2021) (emphasis added).

"Potential jurors are sometimes less than clear, equivocating in response to the questions they are asked as part of the voir dire process." *State v. Booth*, 24 Wn. App. 2d 586, 599, 521 P.3d 196 (2022). A juror's "equivocal answers alone" do not justify removal for cause. *State v. Noltie*, 116 Wn.2d 831, 838-40, 809 P.2d 190 (1991)). However, a juror is properly excused for cause when the likelihood that the juror suffers from actual bias is "probable" and not merely "possible." *State v. Sassen Van Elsloo*, 191 Wn.2d 798, 809, 425 P.3d 807 (2018) (quoting *Noltie*, 116 Wn.2d at 838-40). A potential juror is properly excused if they cannot demonstrate the ability to set preconceived ideas aside and decide the case only on the evidence given at the trial and the law as given by the court. *Brett*, 126 Wn.2d at 157-58.

The trial court is in the best position to determine a potential juror's ability to be impartial because it can observe the potential juror's demeanor and evaluate and interpret the juror's answers. *Noltie*, 116 Wn.2d at 839. For that reason, appellate courts "afford great deference to the trial court's assessments concerning bias, and the grant or denial of a challenge for cause will be reversed only for manifest abuse of discretion." *Smith II*, 3 Wn.3d at 854 (citing *Noltie*, 116 Wn.2d at 839). Discretion is abused only when *no reasonable judge* would have reached the same conclusion. *State v. Emery*, 174 Wn.2d 741, 765, 278 P.3d 653 (2012) (emphasis added). This

deference acknowledges the importance of the trial judge's observations of demeanor, as well as the trial judge's ability to interpret and evaluate a juror's answers to questions. *State v*. *Gentry*, 125 Wn.2d 570, 634, 888 P.2d 1105 (1995).

c. The Court of Appeals Properly Concluded That the Trial Court's For-Cause Excusal of Juror 71 Was a Proper Exercise of Its Wide Discretion.

Applying the above principles, the trial court properly exercised its discretion to excuse Juror 71 for cause. A reasonable judge could easily conclude it was *probable* that Juror 71's views would prevent or substantially impair the performance of his duties as a juror.

Juror 71 suffered from significant and ongoing professional and personal trauma that made him deeply distrustful of authority figures and the "rules or regulations or laws" they apply and enforce. RP 277. He told the court that he was "very uncomfortable" even discussing his views before the authority figures in this case — two lawyers and the judge. RP 280.

Juror 71 was clear that his bias against authority figures originally stemmed from "multiple situations" in his career, and that the "icing on the cake" had been his divorce proceeding in which he lost custody of his child because of what he viewed as "bias at every level" of the court proceedings. RP 307, 309-10. Juror 71 felt that "more often than not" individuals in positions of authority treat a "small set of people unfairly," and penalize those with minority views. RP 309. Juror 71 told the trial court that these experiences had led him to be pessimistic, biased, and to suffer from confirmation bias — a characteristic indisputably inconsistent with the open mind necessary for proper jury service. RP 309.

When asked if his bias would impact his ability to listen to the evidence and independently weigh it for himself, Juror 71 consistently answered, "It may," "I'm not sure," and "It's a maybe for me." RP 275-76, 310. He was unequivocal about possessing a "conscious bias." And he never wavered in his significant concern that if his own personal experiences related to anything in the case, his verdict could be influenced by the bias he had developed from his ongoing experiences in both his personal and professional life. RP 277, 308-10. And given that Juror 71's experiences and biases were about authority figures, power, and rules in a very general sense, the probability of them being triggered in a criminal trial was very high.

Finally, Juror 71 expressed significant reservations about his ability to properly deliberate. He indicated that in his experience, when he had needed help from others, they "took the path of least resistance," and so he had started to think that "maybe that's the way to go." RP 308. His prior negative experiences where he was penalized for "having a minority opinion" caused him to fear that he would simply go along with the majority opinion during deliberations regardless of his own views. RP 309. In *Smith II*, this Court performed a "fact-specific" analysis of its prior cases to conclude that the correct approach "requires trial judges to carefully assess the juror's statements, and any additional information ... in order to determine whether the juror is actually biased and therefore unfit to serve." 3 Wn.3d at 727. *Smith II* reaffirmed the deference owed to the trial court's determination:

Given the nuanced nature of this exercise, which relies heavily on the trial judge's assessment of the juror's responses, demeanor, and tone in context, appellate review is appropriately restrained. We will not disturb the trial court's decision absent a clear abuse of discretion, i.e., where no reasonable judge would have made the same decision.

Id.

Unequivocal statements indicating bias, without a subsequent assurance of impartiality, can establish actual bias. *Booth*, 24 Wn. App. 2d at 600. A later commitment to impartiality is required because a clear statement of bias cannot be overcome by "nuance of inflection or demeanor." *Id.* 

Here, Juror 71 relayed that he had suffered multiple professional situations where the people in charge had retaliated against him for expressing a contrary viewpoint. He unequivocally admitted that he harbored conscious bias against "authority figures," the courts, and in his words, those "that are making those laws and rules." He steadfastly conditioned his ability to be fair and follow the law on whether the evidence in the case triggered these personal experiences.<sup>2</sup> He never

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